
 

 

 

 

 
1 

 

NOTICE OF MEETING 

 

CABINET MEMBER FOR CULTURE, LEISURE AND SPORT 
 

THURSDAY, 10 APRIL 2014 AT 12.00 PM 
 

CONFERENCE ROOM A - CIVIC OFFICES, FLOOR 2 
 
Telephone enquiries to Lisa Gallacher 02392834056 
Email: lisa.gallacher@portsmouthcc.gov.uk 
 

 
CABINET MEMBER FOR CULTURE, LEISURE AND SPORT 
Councillor Lee Hunt (Liberal Democrat) 
 
Group Spokespersons 
 
Councillor David Horne, Labour 
Councillor Steve Wemyss, Conservative 
 
 

(NB This Agenda should be retained for future reference with the minutes of this meeting.) 
 
Please note that the agenda, minutes and non-exempt reports are available to view online on 
the Portsmouth City Council website:  www.portsmouth.gov.uk 
 
Deputations by members of the public may be made on any item where a decision is 
going to be taken. The request should be made in writing to the contact officer (above) by 
12 noon of the working day before the meeting, and must include the purpose of the 
deputation (for example, for or against the recommendations). Email requests are 
accepted. 
 

Public Document Pack



 
2 

 

 
A G E N D A 

 

 1  Apologies for absence  
 

 2  Declarations of  Interest  
 

 3  Hilsea Lido Update Report (Pages 1 - 12) 
 

  To receive a report from the Head of Transport and Environment which 
updates the portfolio holder for Culture, Leisure and Sport on the offering 
around the Hilsea Lido, to outline a plan for assessing the community benefits 
and clarifying the role the city council has in supporting the Hilsea Lido Pool 
for the People Trust (HLPPT), the Trust. 
 
RECOMMENDED  

 
(1) That a Community Benefits review of the site is undertaken by 

council officers on an annual basis. 
(2) That the portfolio holder acknowledges the work, identified 

through the "state of play" document which the HLPPT have 
undertaken at the Lido and Blue Lagoon sites since taking 
responsibility in 2010. 

(3) That non-financial and enabling support is offered to the HLPPT to 
maximise the chances of success at the Lido. 

 



 

1 
 

www.portsmouth.gov.uk 

 
 

 Agenda item: 3 

  
Title of meeting:  
 

Culture, Leisure and Sport decision meeting 

Subject:  
 

Hilsea lido 

Date of meeting: 
 

10th April 2014 

Report by:  
 

Head of Transport & Environment 

Wards affected:  
 

All 

 
1. Purpose 

 
1.1. To update the portfolio holder for Culture, Leisure and Sport on the offering around the 

Hilsea Lido, to outline a plan for assessing the community benefits and clarifying the 
role the city council has in supporting the Hilsea Lido Pool for the People Trust 
(HLPPT), the Trust. 

 
2. Recommendations 

 
2.1. That a Community Benefits review of the site is undertaken by council officers on an 

annual basis. 
 

2.2. That the portfolioholder acknowledges the work, identified through the "state of play" 
document which the HLPPT have undertaken at the Lido and Blue Lagoon sites since 
taking responsibility in 2010. 
 

2.3. That non-financial and enabling support is offered to the HLPPT to maximise the 
chances of success at the Lido. 

  
3. Background 

 
3.1. The Hilsea Lido and Blue Lagoon site is located at the north end of Portsea island 

adjacent to Port Creek. 
 
3.2. The site is owned by the Council and was operated as a facility until 2010 when it was 

leased, for a peppercorn rent for 99 years, to the Trust. 
 
3.3. The lease states that the site must provide a 

3.3.1. Lido - open air swimming pool, and  
3.3.2. Licensed premises (currently the Blue Lagoon) for use as an indoor function 

room with catering kitchen and bar areas to be available for hire by members 
of the public for uses to benefit the local community and for private functions 
within class D2 of the Town & Country Planning (Use Classes) Order 1987. 

 

Page 1

Agenda Item 3



 

2 
 

www.portsmouth.gov.uk 

3.4. The Trust is required to:- 
 

3.4.1. Keep the Property in good and substantial repair and condition 
3.4.2. Redecorate the outside and interior of any Buildings as often as is necessary 

in the interests of good estate management. 
3.4.3. Maintain accounts fully and accurately throughout the whole of the Term and 

to provide copies of the audited accounts to the Landlord within six months of 
the end of each financial year throughout the Term.   

3.4.4. Invest all profits from the operation of the Blue Lagoon into the re-opening of 
the Hilsea Lido Main Pool as an open air swimming and leisure facility and to 
make the same available for use by the general public in accordance with the 
terms of the Operating Covenants within 10 years of the date of the lease. 

 
3.5. HLPPT may terminate the lease by giving not less than 6 months written notice. 
 
3.6. The Council may terminate the lease, by giving 6 months written notice if, in its 

reasonable opinion, the HLPPT fails to: - 
 

3.6.1. Make sufficient progress after 5 years towards bringing back into use the 
Hilsea Lido Main Pool (i.e. September 2015). 

3.6.2. By the tenth year make Hilsea Lido Main Pool available for use by the 
general public (i.e. September 2020).  

3.6.3. Function in accordance with the Tenant's Articles of Association. 
 
3.7. The lease, and various previous Council reports, confirms that the city council acts 

only as the landlord in relation to the management of the site.  In line with other 
properties which are leased to organisations to operate, the local authority has no 
responsibility for the management of the Lido or Blue Lagoon facility, nor authority to 
influence how it is operated, outside of that directed within the lease. 

 
4. Annual Community Benefits review 

 
4.1. Given the innovative nature of the community transfer of the Lido, it is proposed that 

the Cabinet Member for Culture, Leisure and Sport should review the process 
ensuring that they are aware of the progress being made on site.  This will help to 
understand the success, or otherwise, of the project as outlined in 3.6 of this report. 

 
4.2. Similar reports are provided on other such locations, such as the Guildhall. 
 
4.3. It is therefore proposed that the relevant services within the Council provide the 

portfolio holder for Culture, Leisure and Sport with an annual Community Benefits 
review.  This work will be carried out by council officers from the relevant services 
within their normal duties. 

 
4.4. This review will enable the Cabinet Member to perform an objective review of the 

facility and the business being operated at the Lido.  It is proposed that this review will 
be done in conjunction with HLPPT and is intended to highlight the positive work being 
undertaken. 

 

Page 2



 

3 
 

www.portsmouth.gov.uk 

4.5. The scope of the review would include:-  
 

4.5.1. The Trust's performance against the requirements within the lease 
4.5.2. Confirmation on how the Trust is meeting its obligations regarding Health & 

Safety.  Note: responsibility for H&S resides with the HLPPT, but as landlord, 
the city council has an obligation to ensure that the Trust has the appropriate 
safety measure in place 

4.5.3. An assessment of the HLPPT current "state of play" as a cultural offer within 
the city 

 
4.6. It is not envisaged that this annual review would compromise the lease, and it is not 

intended to lead to any changes in the arrangements with HLPPT. 
 
4.7. If the Cabinet Member supports this approach, the first review would take place at the 

end of 2014.  This date has been chosen as the HLPPT are currently doing a lot of 
work to get ready for the summer season and the Council would not want this to 
distract them from that work. 

 
4.8. It is further proposed that as part of future Community Benefits review HLPPT will be 

invited to present an update on the current state of play and work being undertaken, 
similar to the invitation and collaboration with other trusts, such as the Portsmouth 
Cultural Trust.  

 
5. Current state of play, and plans, from the HLPPT 

 
5.1. A report on the current 'state of play' at the Lido, prepared by the HLPPT, is attached 

in Appendix A 
 

6. Support available to HLPPT 
 

6.1. When the site was transferred to the HLPPT it was agreed that there would be no on-
going revenue support for this facility.  It is not proposed to change that arrangement. 

 
6.2. However, the city council could act as an enabler in the following areas:- 

 
6.2.1. Encouraging its contractors to provide support to the HLPPT 
6.2.2. Providing management advice and sharing knowledge, similar to the 

assistance offered to other charities 
6.2.3. Providing training, such as that related to the basic pool plant operation and 

water testing associated to the splash pool   
6.2.4. Offer materials and equipment that would otherwise be disposed or recycled, 

if thought to be of benefit (HLPPT to provide a wish list such as noticeboards, 
safety fencing, plants etc.). 
 

6.3. This support, and its benefits to the HLPPT, will be regularly reviewed by officers and 
summarised in the subsequent review reports to the Cabinet Member. 
 

6.4. In addition it should be noted that the council currently pays HLPPT approximately 
£10,000 pa to manage the splashpool which is located in the vicinity. 

Page 3



 

4 
 

www.portsmouth.gov.uk 

 
7. Equality impact assessment (EIA) 

 
7.1. Non-applicable 
 
8. Head of finance’s comments 

 
8.1. This proposal does not appear to incur any financial implications for the Council, other 

than the time involved in providing management advice and training, which can be met 
from existing cash limits. 

 
9. Head of legal, licensing & registrars’ comments 

 
9.1. The report raises no legal matters requiring commentary. 
 
……………………………………………… 
Signed by (Head of Service for Transport & Environment) 
 
 
Appendices: 
Appendix A - State of play report from Hilsea Lido Pool for the People's Trust 
 
The following documents disclose facts or matters, which have been relied upon to a 
material extent by the author in preparing this report: 
 

Title of document Location 

  

  

 
 

Page 4



Registered Charity No 1133714 

STATE OF PLAY 

1970s 
2009 

2013 

Page 5



Page 2 

 

Hilsea Lido Pool for the People Trust (HLPPT) welcome the opportunity to update PCC 
on the progress the Trust have made on re-commissioning Hilsea Lido and hope that this 
report will be an opportunity for PCC, HLPPT and the people of Portsmouth to celebrate 
initiative, commitment, creativity, partnership, independence and the power of serendipity. 

Hilsea Lido Pool for the People Trust (HLPPT) took on the 99 year lease for the Blue   
Lagoon and Lido Pool site in September 2010 following negotiations with Portsmouth City 
Council as a Community Asset Transfer (following the Quirk report of 2007). 

HLPPT is a registered charity (registration number 1133714) and a Company Limited by 
Guarantee (registration number 6940781).  Information regarding the status of the Trust 
is available on the Charity Commission website. HLPPT has six trustees who are also  
directors of the Company Limited by Guarantee.  In addition to the board of trustees there 
are a number of trust members, these are the guardians of the Trust and this is the group 
from which new trustees are drawn. Members of the Trust have voting rights and elect 
the trustees.  This year the Trust invited five new supporters to join our existing members. 
These people were selected from our group of volunteers and had all demonstrated an 
understanding of the complex issues surrounding the project as well as showing        
commitment   and   support   of   the   team   delivering   the   Trust’s   objectives.   The   Trust   also  
have a number of supporters who pay a subscription and receive quarterly newsletters.  
In   other   organisations   these   supporters   are   often   termed   ‘Friends   of’   e.g   The   Kings    
Theatre or New Theatre Royal. 

Working together to create a new Hilsea Lido, from left:  Completing a pipe survey with the support of Bam Nuttall;  Creating a 
site surround freize with local schoolchildren, supported by Covers;  Ceaning & organising the working areas of the Blue Lagoon;    
Taking part in events to keep people informed.   

The considerable progress the Trust has made since 2010 is due to the support it has gained 
from grant funders, local businesses, the probation service and most of all determined and 
committed volunteers.  To date the social capital and grant funding invested in Hilsea Lido 
amounts to a considerable sum and this demonstrates the desire from local people to have 
their lido re-opened. The Trust has always worked towards  providing the next generation 
with the same opportunities many of them experienced in their youth.  HLPPT gains            
inspiration through the school children of this city who are  looking forward to Hilsea Lido    
being open again.  The particular interest of young people is often diving (jumping into the 
water) as well as swimming.  In addition to our own consultations with young people and the 
widespread attention the sport has gained through the popularity of diving champions such 
as Tom Daley, we were alerted to this recently when it was widely reported that 200 children 
went to a diving squad selection event at Southampton.  Twenty children were selected for 
the squad but sadly 180 keen divers were left without the opportunity to access facilities to 
develop their interest in this high profile and growing sport. 

Page 6



Page 3 

 

Over the three years since the Trust has been responsible for the site there has also been a 
process of engagement and development which has brought together a number of different 
groups   and   it   is   this   ‘ownership’   by   a   wide   group   of   individuals   that  makes   this   project   so        
special.  Indeed this developmental stage, where alternative resources are woven together to 
improve the fabric of the building and re-commission of the plant room is almost more      
beneficial, in terms of community cohesion, than the actual delivery of public swimming which 
has always been the ultimate aim of all those involved. 

Working together to create a new Hilsea Lido, from left:  Cleaning the pool with the support of Cosham Fire Service;  Cleaning 
out the plant room with the support of Army Cadets;  Repairing the scum channel;  Pumping out pool supported by Selwood. 

Eventually Hilsea Lido, which had been designed as a premier venue hosting gala events, will 
be fully restored complete with high board diving facilities to provide families and young adults 
with a social and educational hub. The site will provide employment for around 30 part-time 
and two full-time posts. However the time-scale for this process entirely depends on the        
resources available to the Trust. 

Since a group of people came together with a desire to save Hilsea Lido, way back in 2007, 
we have grown and the Trust has learned a huge amount.  Regeneration of Hilsea Lido is a 
massive task that has not been without challenges.  Portsmouth has never experienced such 
a large and complex community endeavour before.  National as well as local interest in this 
flagship project provides the Trust with added pressure but also confidence that lidos taken 
over by community groups are popular and there is a great desire for success.   The Trust 
hopes that this report is evidence of shared thinking  and how PCC and HLPPT can work   
together in order to increase the speed of improvements required at Hilsea Lido, all of which 
is what the people of Portsmouth wish to see happen.  It is also hoped that together we can 
seize opportunities to open a dialogue on the cultural shift that occurs when management and 
funding systems are stretched and unable to deliver public services in the traditional way.  
The Hilsea Lido project is totally different and that means that there are new challenges for all 
the parties involved.  In a city of innovation it is good to work together to support enterprising 
and dedicated people. Also, we want to be clear that this site is not a council run facility, and 
HLPPT does not receive any financial support from the council.  Therefore whilst we fully    
appreciate the role of the council as landlord, and the considerable support it can provide, the 
management decisions must ultimately be made by the Trust as it is the Trust and more     
importantly the trustees, who are all volunteers, that bear the considerable legal responsibility 
for this facility, employees and volunteers on the site.  Whilst there is a great deal of interest 
and support in what is being achieved, the Trust  is grateful for any support that enables us to 
get this message out to the wider community. The Trust has to comply with the legal           
requirements of both Companies House and the Charity Commission, whilst under the terms 
of the lease the only requirement is to provide  a copy of the annual accounts to PCC. 

Page 7



Page 4 

 

There are a number of areas which the Trust has found difficult to progress, for example, 
improvements to the insulation of the buildings (which were built in 1935), new paving for 
the sun terrace, roof repairs to the spectators gallery building to stop further deterioration 
and also management of the trees on the boundary which have all reached maturity.  
This year two trees came down in the gales and several others look to be in need of  
management.  The planned maintenance of these trees and a programme of replacement 
is an area of expertise that would certainly be very useful for the Trust.  In addition,   
equipment like cash tills, display fridges, freezers, round tables, trolleys etc are all items 
that are required.   

We anticipate that the major refurbishment works required to re-instate the diving boards 
will also be an opportunity for a wider re-appraisal of the aesthetics of the site and        
introduction of water harvesting and re-use. 

Hilsea Lido 

The Trust has gained funding from the Big Lottery through public votes via The News.  This 
funding is to provide free sessions at weekends to 9-14 year olds from May to September. 
The Trust applied for this funding in order to relieve the pressure on the Hilsea Jubilee 
Splashpool and provide something a little more challenging for older children who are part of 
the visiting family groups.    In addition the Trust plan to open the main pool on Fridays,   
Saturdays and Sundays, 4-8pm to the general public.  Prior to opening the Trust are       
planning  to  have  some  ‘live’  training  days  where,  with  an  invited  client  group,  our  staff  team  
will become familiar with the difference between lido and indoor pool lifeguarding and gain 
confidence as a team before we undertake the public opening.  The Trust is working with  
accredited trainers to recruit and train our lifeguards and assist with the public opening     
programme. 

The  Trust’s  plan  to  open  Hilsea  Lido  for  public  swimming  has  to  be  managed  effectively  to  
minimise costs at the same time as providing a clean, safe and positive environment for  
people to enjoy.  Whilst the initial opening will be limited, the Trust may increase opening 
hours as the summer progresses depending upon resources and demand.   As well as      
developing good relationships with a number of local and national media outlets, the Trust 
has used Facebook and Twitter as main channels of communication and this will enable us 
to keep people informed instantly as changes to our opening hours are made.   

Working together to create a new Hilsea Lido, from left:  Creating a new gate access;  Widening the entrance with the support of 
Colas;  Removing the rapidly growing algae;  Repairing the pool surface. 

2014 Developments 

Page 8



Page 5 

 

The Trust will be focussing on the practicalities of the management of Hilsea Lido and gaining 
feedback on what people want from this facility and how the Trust can best deliver its           
objectives.  The Lido buildings continue to be renovated thanks to our volunteers, they have 
recently been working to remove old Georgian wired glazing from the original Crittall windows 
and replace with polycarbonate panes, painting of the outside of the building and make the 
site look presentable.  The paint has been donated by a local company and the Trust will    
continue to improve the buildings as best it can.  The lack of revenue support, which is       
provided to other organisations within the city, certainly limits the speed of these                  
improvements and creates additional challenges for the Trust.  In addition the lack of working 
capital to pay for electricity, water, sewage, accountancy, chemicals, training, etc. hinders the 
purchase  of  building  materials   and  expertise.     Managing  people’s   expectations  under   these  
difficult  circumstances  adds  to  the  Trust’s  challenges. 

Working together to create a new Hilsea Lido, from left:  Removal of fallen trees with the support of Portsmouth City Council; 
Fundraising at Live@theLido, supported by a variety of local musicians; Spreading the word via media support;  Preparing for 
painting. 

Blue Lagoon 

The Blue Lagoon building has been substantially improved since the Trust took it over, for  
example improved cellar facilities, toilets, dance floor and cleanliness.  The venue is regularly 
hired for weddings and parties but there is still room for growth.  Ironically the widely held 
public perception that the Blue Lagoon closed years ago may be reversed when Hilsea Lido is 
open.  The Blue Lagoon was in a very tired state when the Trust gained ownership and 
lacked much of the equipment required to manage a facility of this nature. This lack of finance 
to make improvements to the Blue Lagoon and market the premises is certainly a hinderance 
to  more  rapid  progress  and  the  Trust’s  ability  to  increase  profits  from  the  Blue  Lagoon  to  help  
support Hilsea Lido. 

Hilsea Jubilee Splashpool 

The Trust has been the PCC approved contractor to manage this facility for the past two 
years.  This is a hugely popular venue and the considerable investment made by PCC to   
provide this free facility for young children has been much appreciated by local families and 
those who travel to visit it. The partnership between HLPPT and PCC has been a positive  
experience for both parties and, despite the very understandable initial concerns officers had 
prior to the agreement the Trust has delivered an excellent service.  Last year the Trust    
substantially reduced the cost to PCC of security for this facility. 

Page 9



Page 6 

 

The old splashpool required two lifeguards and the new water play area is a non          
supervised play area.  Changing the management and the culture was initially a         
challenge for visitors and and staff.   However it provided an opportunity to create a     
dialogue and gain mutual understanding with clients whilst trying to implement alternative 
solutions and consider how best to manage risk. This has been a productive partnership 
and it is widely acknowledged that the Trust and its volunteers compliment the process 
which has created a sense of ownership by those using the facility. This has been     
demonstrated  by  our  Facebook  ‘community’  of   in  excess  of  4300  people,  through  which  
we provide information and more importantly gain feedback and support.  

The Future 

HLPPT plan to develop the availability of public swimming as well as providing opportunities 
for a wider programme of activities on site.  Major grant funding will be identified and        
pursued in order to enable HLPPT to develop the site and provide more facilities and        
improvements on site. 

Working together to create a new Hilsea Lido, from left:  Painting the pool;  Painting the newly repaired building;  Taking part in a 
street collection;  A collaborative project with University of Portsmouth results in student Niall Bird winning the Philip Webb architectural 
award in 2010. 

Page 10



Page 11



Page 12


	Agenda
	3 Hilsea Lido Update Report
	r3 Appendix A - HLPPT State of play
	letter from Peny Mordaunt re Hilsea Lido


